**22-**CV-595



# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 01/03/2023 11:49 AM

FRENNIEJO NIXON

Appellant,

۷.

GIOVANNI IPPOLITO, et al.

Appelle, et. al.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA SUPERIOR COURT

# SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF OF MS. NIXON

Shakétta A. Denson, Esq. (#1045658) Muha Histor Michael D. Reiter, Ésq. (#981814)

**CHASEN**BOSCOLO INJURY LAWYERS 7852 Walker Drive, Suite 300 Greenbelt, Maryland 20770 (301) 220-0050 Attorneys for Ms. Nixon

## I. RULE 28-A STATEMENT

Frenniejo Nixon v. Giovanni Ippolito, et al., Appellees.

### **IV. JURISDICTION**

This Appeal is from a final Order of the DC Superior Court granting Appellee's Motions to Dismiss and Denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider that disposes of all parties' claims.

### V. STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Did the Superior Court err in granting the Appellees' respective motions for summary judgment when there were multiple disputes of material facts and a rebuttable presumption of negligence in a rear-end collision?

## VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 27, 2021, Ms. Nixon filed her lawsuit in the District of Columbia Superior Court against Appellee Gustavio K. Etile (hereinafter "Appellee Etile"), Appellee Abron W. Deer (hereinafter "Appellee Deer"), Appellee Giovanni Ippolito (hereinafter "Appellee Ippolito"), and Appellee Anna Chayka (hereinafter "Appellee Chayka") for negligence and against the Uninsured Motorist Carriers, Appellee National General Insurance Company (hereinafter "Appellee Reico") and Appellee Geico Casualty Insurance Company (hereinafter "Appellee Geico") for breach of contract due to the injuries she sustained proximately caused by the July 4, 2018 subject collision. *App.* at p. 1. (Ms. Nixon has attached the complete deposition transcript to the Appendix for inclusiveness purposes, however, is asking the court to only consider the pages cited in this brief). Appellee Geico filed a Third-Party Complaint against the uninsured drivers, Appellee Tyrese A. White (hereinafter "Mr. White") and Donnita D. Bennett (hereinafter "Ms. Bennett"). *App.* at p. 13.

In May 2022, Appellees Ippolito and Chayka, Deer, Etile, Geico and National, all filed their Motions for Summary Judgment, alleging that they were entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *App.* at p. 17; p. 27; p. 34; p. 39; and p. 49 respectively. All Appellees filing Motions requested a hearing on the issues.

Ms. Nixon timely filed separate Oppositions to all the above-referenced Motions for Summary Judgment, which Ms. Nixon adopts and incorporates herein by reference, addressing the claims made by the Appellees. *App.* at p. 52; p. 65; p. 77; and p. 89 respectively.

On June 13, 2022, the Superior Court, without hearing, ordered all Appellees' Motions for Summary Judgment granted and dismissed the case in its entirety with prejudice. *App*. at p. 102. On July 7, 2022, Ms. Nixon filed a Motion to Reconsider. *App*. at p. 109. Appellee's Deer, National, Etile, Ippolito and Chayka, and Geico filed Oppositions to the Motion to Reconsider on July 8, 11, 12, 13 and 14 respectively. *App*. at p. 125; p. 136; p. 141; 144; and p. 152 respectively. On July 22, 2022, the Superior Court issued an Order denying the Motion to Reconsider stating that Ms. Nixon did not point to any specific evidence of responsibility or the cause, order, and number of impacts that occurred and that speculative testimony is insufficient to support a finding of negligence. *App*. at 160.

## VII. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This action arises from a chain collision involving four vehicles that occurred on July 4, 2018, on Interstate 295 near its intersection with Exit 1, Laboratory Road SW, in Washington, D.C. Third-Party Appellee Mr. White was operating a motor vehicle, with the permission and consent of Third-Party Appellee Ms. Bennett. Mr. White and Ms. Bennett were both uninsured at the time of the collision. Mr. White was traveling directly behind Appellee Etile's vehicle, in which Ms. Nixon was a passenger. Appellee Deer was operating a motor vehicle traveling directly behind Mr. White's vehicle. Appellee Ippolito was operating a motor vehicle, with the permission and consent of Appellee Chayka, traveling directly behind Appellee Deer. Mr. White collided with the rear of Appellee Etile's vehicle, in which Ms. Nixon was a passenger. *App.* at p. 196 *-Ms. Nixon's Deposition Transcript*, L. 11-13; *App.* at p. 358 *-Appellee Etile's Deposition Transcript*, L. 1-11. Appellee Ippolito conceded that he collided with the rear of Appellee Deer's vehicle. *App.* at p. 432 *- Appellee Ippolito's Deposition Transcript*, L. 12-16. Appellee Deer also conceded that he collided with the rear of Mr. White's vehicle. *App.* at p. 508 *- Appellee Deer's Deposition Transcript*, P. 15, L. 10-17. Appellee Etile, the driver of the vehicle in which Ms. Nixon was a passenger, stated in his deposition that he felt "**[o]ne, for certain, but probably two**" impacts from behind. *App.* at p. 348-349, L. 15-4; *App.* at p. 401, L. 9-15. Appellee Etile also testified that after he was hit from behind, he saw in his rearview more than two impacts behind him and saw that the car behind him, which was a sedan (Mr. White), was hit again. *App.* at p. 356, L. 2-18; *App.* at p. 348, L. 9-11. Mr. White alleges that he lost consciousness as a result of the collision and therefore, has no recollection of what has happened after he blacked out and whether he felt one impact or more. *App.* at p. 585 - *Mr. White's Deposition Transcript*, L 3-10; *App.* at p 586, L. 7-16; *App* at. P. 616-617, L. 20-3; *App.* at p. 589, L. 20-6.

Furthermore, Appellee Deer stated that the impact to the rear of his vehicle happened instantaneously after the impact to the front of his vehicle and that his vehicle was still in contact with the car ahead of him when he was struck from the behind. *App.* at p. 549, L. 18-21; App. at p. 563, L. 12-16.

Finally, Appellee Ippolito's brother, Salvatore Ippolito, who was driving in a separate car, witnessed the whole chain of collisions and stated in his deposition that he first saw a big car, stopped and the back of that car jammed up *App*. at p. 665-666 - Salvatore Ippolito's Deposition Transcript, L. 11-1; App. at p. 668, L. 16-17. He stated that vehicle was the first car and it initiated the chain collision. *App*. at p. 675, L. 7-13. He believes there were six or seven impacts as a result of this chain collision. *App*. at p. 681, L. 12-16. Mr. Salvatore Ippolito stated that he further noticed his brother, Appellee Ippolito, colliding into the car in front of him. *App*. at p. 669, L. 14-20. He further stated that there were several cars between the SUV that initiated the collision and Appellee Ippolito's vehicle. *App*. at p. 675, L. 7-13; *App*. at 697-698, L. 19-1

#### **VIII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

To prevail upon a motion for summary judgment, the moving party must demonstrate that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. D.C. Sup.Ct. R. Civ.

*P. 56<sup>1</sup>. See also Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). "The record is review[ed] in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion." *Weakley*, 871 A.2d at 1173. Once the required showing has been made by the moving party, the burden shifts to the non-moving party to show that an issue of material fact exists. All that is required of the non-moving party is "that sufficient evidence supporting the claimed factual dispute be shown to require a jury or judge to resolve the parties' differing versions of the truth at trial." *First Nat'l Bank v. Cities Serv. Co.*, 391 U.S. 253, 288-289 (U.S. 1968). "The party opposing a properly supported motion for summary judgment may not rest upon the mere allegations contained in its pleadings, but must set forth 'specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.' "*Kibunja v. Alturas, L.L.C.*, 856 A.2d 1120, 1127–28 (D.C. 2004). "On summary judgment, the court <u>does not make credibility determinations or weigh the evidence.</u> 'Any doubt as to whether or not [a genuine] issue of [material] fact has been raised <u>is sufficient to preclude a grant of summary judgment.</u>" *Weakley*, 871 A.2d at 1173. (emphasis added) (citations omitted). "Accordingly, if an impartial trier of fact, crediting the non-moving party, may reasonably find in favor of that party, then the motion for summary judgment <u>must be denied." *Id.* (emphasis added).</u>

Ms. Nixon's oppositions clearly set forth specific facts showing there are multiple genuine issues of material fact. The Superior Court, in dismissing this matter, did not consider all the disputed facts on how this chain collision occurred, but instead ruled that because Ms. Nixon did "not point to any specific evidence of responsibility and concedes that she has no personal knowledge as to the order of impacts that occurred behind her", Ms. Nixon failed to present sufficient evidence upon which a jury could reasonably rely to find Appellees' Negligence. *App.* at p. 102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Rule 56. Summary Judgment (a) MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT. (1) In General. A party may move for summary judgment, identifying each claim or defense—or the part of each claim or defense—on which summary judgment is sought. The court shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The court should state on the record the reasons for granting or denying the motion.

#### **IX. ARGUMENT**

#### A. The Standard of Review

The District of Columbia Court of Appeals reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment de novo. *Lumen Eight Media Group, LLC v. Dist. of Columbia*, 279 A.3d 866, 874 (D.C. 2022). In doing so, the court "conduct(s) an independent review of the record, and ... standard of review is the same as the trial court's standard in considering the motion for summary judgment." *Critchell v. Critchell*, 746 A.2d 282, 284 (D.C. 2000) (citing *Sherman v. District of Columbia*, 653 A.2d 866, 869 (D.C. 1995)). "The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Bruno v. Western Union Fin. Servs., Inc.*, 973 A.2d 713, 717 (D.C.2009). "The record is review[ed] in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion." *Weakley v. Burnham Corp.*, 871 A.2d 1167, 1173 (D.C. 2005). Once the required showing has been made by the moving party, all that is required of the non-moving party is "that sufficient evidence supporting the claimed factual dispute be shown to require a jury or judge to resolve the parties' differing versions of the truth at trial." *First Nat'l Bank v. Cities Serv. Co.*, 391 U.S. 253, 288-289 (U.S. 1968).

# **B.** The Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgement with Respect to Appellee Geico and Appellee National Despite Clear Disputed Material Facts and a Rebuttable Presumption

The DC Superior Court in its Order Granting Appellees' Motions for Summary Judgment, stated that "[b]ecause of this Court's finding that there is no evidence that the accident was caused by the negligence of Third-Party Appellee White, Appellant claim for uninsured motorist benefits against Appellees Geico and National General Assurance fails as a matter of law." In reaching this conclusion, the Superior Court not only failed to consider the material facts argued by Ms. Nixon as to Mr. White's negligence, but also failed to consider the applicable law of rebuttable presumption. In her Motion to Reconsider, Ms. Nixon restated again the material facts giving rise to a rebuttable presumption of Mr. White's negligence, however, the Superior Court yet again failed to consider or address those arguments in its Order Denying Ms. Nixon's Motion to Reconsider. *App.* at 109.

"[T]he primary duty to avoid collision as between [the] motorist ahead and the motorist following lies with the motorist behind ...." Pazmino v. WMATA, 638 A.2d 677, 679 (D.C.1994). "[i]n the absence of an emergency or unusual conditions, the following driver is negligent if he collides with the forward vehicle.' '[T]he nature of a rear-end collision is such that it alone may suggest negligence of the driver of the striking vehicle to a degree that [s]he may be found negligent as a matter of law." Fisher v. Best, 661 A.2d 1095, 1099 (D.C. 1995) (citation omitted). "[A]bsent emergency or unusual circumstances, where a lawfully stopped vehicle is struck by another car from the rear, there is a 'rebuttable presumption' that the approaching vehicle was negligently operated." Warrick v. Walker, 814 A.2d 932, 933 (D.C. 2003); See also Gebremdhin v. Avis Rent-A-Car Sys., Inc. 689 A.2d 1202, 1204 (D.C.1997). "Where a party proves the basic facts giving rise to a presumption, it will have satisfied its burden of proving evidence with regard to the presumed fact" and therefore, its adversary's motion should be denied. Warrick, 814 A.2d at 934. "[T]he procedural consequences of the application of a rebuttable presumption are clear. Where a party proves the basic facts giving rise to a presumption, it will have satisfied its burden of proving evidence with regard to the presumed fact and therefore, its adversary's motion for a directed verdict will be denied. See John W. Strong, 2 McCormick on Evidence, § 344 at 460-61 (4th ed. 1992). In a civil case, such a presumption requires that the person against whom the presumption is directed assume the burden of going forward with the evidence, although the burden of persuasion remains with the plaintiff. Thus, the Appellee was not put to the task of offering evidence of circumstances that might tend to rebut the presumption." Id.

Drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of Ms. Nixon, the Court is presented with the basic facts giving rise to a rebuttable presumption of Mr. White's negligence. Ms. Nixon and Appellee Etile (the driver of Ms. Nixon's vehicle) both testified under oath that they were rear-ended by Mr. White. *App.* at p. 196 - *Ms. Nixon's Deposition Transcript*, L. 11-13; *App.* at p. *358 - Appellee Etile's Deposition Transcript*, L. 1-11. Mr. White had a duty to keep a proper distance from the car ahead of him to avoid colliding with it.

*See* 18 DCMR S. 2200.4; *also see* 18 DCMR S. 2201.9.<sup>2</sup> "Moreover, where (as here) the collision caused substantial damage to both vehicles, one may reasonably infer that the rear car was being operated at a higher rate of speed than the exercise of ordinary care would permit under the circumstances." *Fisher*, 661 A.2d at 1099. Appellee Etile testified that the rear of his car, the bumper and the trunk, was damaged as a result of the subject collision. *App*. at p. 361-362, L. 20-5. The jury can reasonably infer from these facts that Mr. White was negligent in keeping a proper lookout and controlling the speed of his vehicle. Mr. White testified that he was driving 54-55 miles per hour before the car in front of him started slowing down. *App*. at p. 618, L. 7-9. He further testified that he was rear-ended when the vehicle in front of him suddenly slowed down. *App*. at p. 610-611, L. 21- 21. The fact that the collision occurred immediately after Appellee Etile slowed down, clearly shows that Mr. White failed to maintain proper distance with the car ahead of him. *See Fisher*, 661 A.2d at 1099-1100.

Mr. White alleges that he blacked out and denies colliding with Ms. Nixon's vehicle before or after blacking out. *App.* at p. 587, L. 8-17. Mr. White's testimony is in direct contradiction to Ms. Nixon and Appellee Etile's testimony. Such testimony does nothing to overcome the rebuttable presumption of negligence in a rear-end collision. First, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Ms. Nixon and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn, it runs contrary to common sense that someone who blacked out could somehow know that they did not collide with the rear of another vehicle in front of them. Further, such testimony at minimum creates an issue of material fact that would preclude the granting of summary judgment. Also, Mr. White's credibility is to be assessed by the fact finder and not by this Court. *See Majeska v. D.C.*, 812 A.2d 948, 950 (D.C. 2002)<sup>3</sup>. Given these disputed facts, a juror could reasonably

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Under District of Columbia Drivers Manual, "In every event speed shall be so controlled as may be necessary to avoid colliding with any person, vehicle, or other conveyance on or entering the street or highway in compliance with legal requirements and the duty of all persons to use due care. 18 DCMR S. 2200.4. "The driver of a vehicle shall not follow another vehicle more closely than is reasonable and prudent, having due regard for the speed of the vehicles and the traffic upon and the condition of the roadway. 18 DCMR S. 2201.9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "'Automobile collisions ... nearly always present questions of fact. The credibility of witnesses must be passed on, conflicting testimony must be weighed, and inferences must be drawn. From this conflict and uncertainty the trier of facts, whether judge or jury, must determine the ultimate facts of the case. Only in exceptional cases will questions of negligence, contributory negligence, and proximate cause pass from the realm of fact to one of law." *Majeska v. D.C.*, 812 A.2d 948, 950 (D.C. 2002).

conclude that Mr. White failed to use ordinary care to avoid colliding with Ms. Nixon's vehicle and thus, was negligent. Appellee Geico and National General Assurance's liability under breach of contract is solely based on whether or not Mr. White, an uninsured driver, was negligent. Therefore, because there are clear issues of material fact with respect to Mr. White's negligence, the Court erred in Dismissing Appellee Geico and National General Assurance and with the Superior Court's Order should reversed and Ms. Nixon's breach of contract counts against Appellees Geico and National General Assurance should be reinstated.

## C. The Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgement with Respect to Appellee Deer Despite Clear Disputed Material Facts

"In order to prove liability for negligence, a plaintiff must show that '(1) the Appellee owed a duty of care to the plaintiff, (2) the Appellee breached that duty, and (3) the breach of duty proximately caused damage to the plaintiff.' A plaintiff can defeat a Appellee's motion for summary judgment if a reasonable inference may be drawn from evidence, properly proffered, that the alleged injury would not have occurred but for the Appellee's negligence." *Tolu v. Ayodeji*, 945 A.2d 596, 601 (D.C. 2008) (Citation omitted). The DC Drivers Manual states as follows: "In every event speed shall be so controlled as may be necessary to avoid colliding with any person, vehicle, or other conveyance on or entering the street or highway in compliance with legal requirements and the duty of all persons to use due care. 18 DCMR S. 2200.4. "The driver of a vehicle shall not follow another vehicle more closely than is reasonable and prudent, having due regard for the speed of the vehicles and the traffic upon and the condition of the roadway." 18 DCMR S. 2201.9.

"While it is true, ..., that 'the mere happening of an accident ... does not prove negligence on the part of anyone ...,' it is the law of this jurisdiction that under the theory of res ipsa loquitur the happening of an accident may be sufficient to prove negligence if 'the facts not in dispute raise such a strong presumption of <u>negligent behavior by one of the parties</u> that the trier of fact ... could logically infer in the <u>absence of countervailing evidence</u> that the accident would not have occurred had such party exercised due care.' In other words, in certain cases, even though there is no allegation of a specific act of negligence, a plaintiff may withstand a directed verdict if a reasonable inference may be drawn that the injury would not

have occurred but for the negligence of the Appellee." *Sullivan v. Snyder*, 374 A.2d 866, 867 (D.C. 1977) (Citation omitted) (emphasis added).

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