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

V. Summary of Argument.

Appellant has failed to show that there any genuine issues of material fact in dispute and that she is entitled to the denial of summary judgment as a matter of law. Her arguments are based on pure speculation regarding the happening of the accident and possible theories of liability, none of which she has proven. Even drawing all factual inferences in her favor, she still has not presented a prima facie case of negligence. Therefore, the decision to grant summary judgment to Mr. Deer, as well as the other appellees, was not legally erroneous and the denial of the Motion to Reconsider and Alter or Amend a Judgment was not in err or an abuse of discretion.

VI. Legal Argument.

A. Standard of Review.

On appeal, this reviews de court novo the trial court's grant of summary judgment. E.g., Clampitt American University, 957 A.2d 23, 28 (D.C. 2008). "Our standard of review is the same as the trial court's standard for initially considering party's motion a for summary judgment; that is, summary judgment is proper if there is no issue of material fact and the record shows that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* (citing Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56 (c))

"In reviewing a trial court order granting a summary judgment motion, [the Court of Appeals] conduct[s] an independent review of the record, and

[its] standard of review is the same as the trial court's standard in considering the motion for summary judgment." Bruno v. Western Union Fin. Servs., Inc., 973 A.2d 713, 717 (D.C. 2009) (quoting Critchell v. Critchell, 746 A.2d 282, 284 (D.C. 2000)). Summary judgment is properly granted where "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Bruno, 973 A.2d at 717 (quoting Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56 (c)). The party moving for summary judgment has the "burden of demonstrating clearly the absence of any genuine issue of fact " Bruno, 973 A.2d at 717 (quotation marks omitted). Once that showing is made, "the burden shifts to non-moving party to show the existence of an issue of material fact," id. (quotation marks omitted), which requires her to "'produce at least enough evidence to make out a prima facie case in support of [her] position." *Id.* (quoting *Joeckel v*. Disabled Am. Veterans, 793 A.2d 1279, 1281-82 (D.C. 2002)). Thus, in opposing the appellees' motions for summary judgment, Ms. Nixon must "show that [she has] a plausible ground for the maintenance of the cause of action." Bruno, 973 A.2d at 717 (quoting *Nader v. De Toledano*, 408 A.2d 31, 48 (D.C. 1979)); see also Young v. U-Haul Co., 11 A.3d 247, 249 (D.C. 2011). The moving party's factual allegations must be countered by the non-moving party with specificity, Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56(e), and conclusory allegations, theoretical speculations and unsupported assumptions

are insufficient to raise a genuine issue of fact and not entitled to any weight. Ferguson v. District of Columbia, 629 A.2d 15, 19, 20 (D.C. 1993) (citation omitted).

Additionally, "Rule 59 motions that claim an error of law are reviewed de novo, see e.g. Joeckel v. Disabled Am. Veterans, 793 A.2d 1279, 1281 (D.C. 2002)." Callahan v. 4200 Cathedral Condo., 934 A.2d 348, 353 (D.C. 2007) (citing Puckrein v. Jenkins, 884 A.2d 46, 60 (D.C. 2005) and Nichols v. First Union Nat'l Bank, 905 A.2d 268, 272 n.2 (D.C. 2006)). Although ordinarily review of denial of a Rule 59 (e) motion is for abuse of discretion, Associated Estates LLC. v. BankAtlantic, 164 A.3d 932, 936 (D.C. 2017), this Court's "review is de novo when the [trial] court considers and rejects a legal argument." M.D. v. R.W., 194 A.3d 374, 379-380 (D.C. 2018) (quoting Zuza v. Office of the High Representative, 857 F.3d 935, 938 n.3 (D.C. Cir. 2017). Where the trial court's ruling on a motion under Rule 59 involves a question of law, appellate review is de novo, while to the extent the ruling is based on questions of fact, it is ordinarily reviewed for abuse of discretion." HSBC Bank USA, N.A. v. Mendoza, 11 A.3d 229, 233-34 (D.C. 2010) (internal quotation marks and alterations omitted).

However, Rule 59(e) is not designed "to enable a party to complete presenting [its] case after the court has ruled against [it]." *Dist. No. 1 -- Pac. Coast Dist., Marine Eng'rs' Ben. Ass'n v. Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 782 A.2d 269, 278 (D.C. 2001)

(citations and internal quotations omitted)."The Rule 59 (e) motion may not be used to . . . raise arguments or present evidence that could have been raised prior to the entry of judgment." *id*. (citations and internal quotations omitted). The trial judge was not required to consider a new argument and new facts that Ms. Nixon could not justify failing to present to the court earlier.

- B. Appellant Has Not Shown that the Trial Court's Grant of Summary Judgment was Legally Erroneous.
 - 1. Appellant Has Failed to Establish that Genuine Issue of Material Fact Was In Dispute Requiring the Trial Court to Deny Summary Judgment as a Matter of Law.

Ms. Nixon asserts that the trial court erred as a matter of law in granting summary judgment on the ground that there were genuine disputes of material fact which precluded judgment for the Appellees. However, Ms. Nixon merely attempts to transform a lack of evidence into a dispute of fact based on various conclusory and speculative arguments about the accident.

In Count III of her Complaint, Ms. Nixon alleges that Appellee "Deer's choices in this matter constitute negligent operation of a motor vehicle justifying an allowance of monetary damages against him." App. at 11. This however is not the standard for proving a claim of negligence.

To prove a *prima facie* case of negligence, the plaintiff must prove that the defendant owed a duty, and the breach of that duty proximately caused the plaintiff's injuries. *Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth. v. Barksdale-Showell*, 965 A.2d 16, 24

(D.C. 2009). At all times it is the Appellant's burden to prove a causal relationship between the deviation in the standard of care and the alleged injury. Wash. Metro 718 A.2d172, 174 (D.C. 1998). Authority ν. Jeanty, simple breach of duty having no causal connection with the injury cannot produce legal responsibility. A plaintiff must prove both negligence and causation." Twyman v. Johnson, 655 A.2d 850, 852 (D.C. 1995) (citations and internal quotations omitted). Where there is no logical way to determine from the evidence the proximate cause of the accident, the lack of evidence as to negligence and proximate cause leaves one to speculate as to what happened. However, the trier of fact is not permitted to guess. S. Kann's Sons Corp. v. Hayes, 320 A.2d 593, 595 (D.C. 1974). "In order to maintain a successful action in tort there must be proof of something more than the mere happening of an accident causing injury." Id. Yet, that is all that Ms. Nixon has presented.

The key factor that Ms. Nixon failed to establish is proximate cause. Ms. Nixon concedes as undisputed there was one impact to the vehicle she was occupying. *Compare* App. at 18 (paragraph (a)) *and* App. at 55 (paragraph (a)). Nixon admits she has no knowledge of the order or sequence of impacts behind her. App. at 301. Appellant further admits as undisputed that Mr. Etile has no knowledge of any impacts **prior** to the impact to the rear of his vehicle. App. at 28 (paragraph 3), 68 (paragraph 3), 356-67. Mr. Etile only heard or saw impacts involving the

vehicles behind him <u>after</u> his vehicle was struck in the rear. Thus, any collision after the single impact to Mr. Etile's vehicle are irrelevant to Ms. Nixon's claims of injury.

Mr. Deer only has knowledge of an impact to the rear of his vehicle and the impact with vehicle ahead of him. App. 548-549. Mr. Deer has no knowledge that vehicle ahead of him was pushed into anything else. App. at 28, 525, 528, 548-49. The vehicle operated by Appellee Giovanni Ippolito was the last vehicle in the line of vehicles involved in the accident. Appellee Ippolito admits he struck the vehicle ahead of him, but did not know whether the vehicle he contacted moved forward into any other vehicle, and he did not see or hear any collisions ahead of him. App. 29, 432, 449, 450. Anna Chayka, a passenger in the vehicle operated by Appellee Ippolito, did not see or hear any collisions before or after Giovanni Ippolito struck the vehicle ahead of him. Ms. Chayka does not know whether the SUV in front of Appellee Ippolito was knocked forward or whether it struck any other vehicle. App. at 129 and Supp. App. 10-12. Mr. White, who was allegedly operating the vehicle behind the Appellant, blacked out and does not know what happened. See Appellant's Brief, at 3. Therefore, no inferences can be drawn from Mr. White's testimony.

Further, as discussed above, Salvatore Ippolito witnessed the his brother, Giovanni strike the rear of Mr. Deer's vehicle, but Salvatore did not know the type of vehicle that his brother struck. As Salvatore testified, the large SUV that he saw

in the distance, far away from his brother's vehicle, <u>was not</u> the vehicle Giovanni Ippolito struck, which was operated by Mr. Deer. App. 131-132, 665, 674, 675. Moreover, Salvatore has no knowledge of whether Mr. Deer's vehicle hit any other vehicle either <u>before or after</u> Giovanni Ippolito struck Mr. Deer's vehicle. App. at 681. Thus, Salvatore Ippolito's testimony does not create a material fact in dispute.

It is undisputed that Giovanni struck the rear of the vehicle ahead of him, which Salvatore merely confirmed. However, no witness testified that any impact by a vehicle behind Ms. Nixon caused a collision with the vehicle in which she was a passenger. No favorable inferences can be drawn from Salvatore Ippolito's testimony to establish that Mr. Deer was a proximate cause of any injury claimed by Ms. Nixon.

Ms. Nixon's contention that Salvatore testified that Deer's vehicle was the large SUV described by Salvatore is a total misrepresentation of Salvatore Ippolito's testimony that is only intended to mislead the court. Nothing in Salvatore's testimony creates a material factual dispute requiring the court to reverse the summary judgment ruling in favor of Deer. Appellant's theory of liability against Mr. Deer is totally unsupported by Salvatore Ippolito's testimony, as Salvatore did not see Mr. Deer's vehicle collide with any vehicle before or after Giovanni Ippolito struck Deer's vehicle. Therefore, Ms. Nixon's argument that Salvatore's testimony creates a genuine issue of material fact for trial must be rejected.

Simply put, Ms. Nixon has not presented evidence that supports an inference that Mr. Deer's negligence cause injuries to Ms. Nixon. Appellant offers no evidence that Mr. White's vehicle was pushed forward by a rear impact. She merely offers speculative theories on how the accident happened and who caused the accident. Mere speculation is no sufficient to defeat summary judgment. Boulton v. Inst. of Int'l Educ., 808 A.2d 499, 504 (D.C. 2002) (holding that where "there was no evidence of a 'causal link' other than 'speculation' [t]hat speculation was not enough to forestall summary judgment"); Musa v. Continental Ins. Co., 644 A.2d 999, 1002 (D.C. 1994) (holding conclusory allegations on the part of the non-moving party are insufficient to stave off the entry of summary judgment). Further. "'[t]he mere existence of a scintilla of evidence in support of the plaintiff's position will be insufficient'" to defeat a motion for summary judgment. Graff v. Malawer, 592 A.2d 1038, 1041 (D.C. 1991) (citations omitted).

Although in its de novo review, the Court must draw all favorable inferences from the evidence, even under this lenient standard Ms. Nixon has failed to demonstrate any genuine issue of material fact. Therefore, this Court must affirm the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment to the Appellees.

2. Appellant May Not Proceed on a Theory of Res Ipsa Loquitur.

Appellant may not proceed on a theory of *res ipsa loquitur* against Mr. Deer.

In her Complaint, Ms. Nixon alleges that Mr. Etile, Mr. White, Mr. Deer and Mr.

Ippolito's were negligent in the operation of their vehicles, and she seeks joint and several liability against multiple parties for damages. See App. 1-12.

Under the theory of *res ipsa loquitur*, three conditions must be established to make a prima facie case, which have been described by Professor Prosser as follows:

"[the] conditions . . . necessary for the application of the principle . . . are as follows: (1) the event must be of a kind which ordinarily does not occur in the absence of someone's negligence; (2) it must be caused by an agency or instrumentality within the exclusive control of the defendant; (3) it must not have been due to any voluntary action or contribution on the part of the plaintiff." W. PROSSER, HANDBOOK OF THE LAW OF TORTS § 39, at 214 (4th ed. 1971). [Emphasis added.]

Sullivan v. Snyder, 374 A.2d 866, 867-868 (D.C. 1977). Thus, to invoke res ipsa loquitur it must be shown that the defendant had exclusive control or management of the thing causing the injury. Hutchins v. Rock Creek Ginger Ale Co., 194 A.2d 305, 306 (D.C.1963). If multiple defendants are involved, the plaintiff must show "joint control" of the instrumentality causing injury. See Greet v. Otis Elevator Co., 187 A.2d 896, 898 (D.C. 1963). It is thus well-settled that:

To satisfy the exclusive-control requirement, the evidence adduced must demonstrate that no third-party or other intervening force contributed more probably than not to the accident. *Holzhauer*, 346 Md. at 337, 697 A.2d at 93; *Johnson*, 245 Md. at 593, 226 A.2d at 885. We iterated in *Holzhauer* that a res ipsa inference of the defendant's

negligence is not permissible where an intervening force may have precipitated the accident. *Holzhauer*, 346 Md. at 337, 697 A.2d at 93.

District of Columbia v. Singleton, 425 Md. 398, 408, 41 A.3d 717, 723 (2012).¹⁰

Therefore it follows that "[t]he doctrine of res ipsa loquitur is not available to fix responsibility when any one of multiple defendants, wholly independent of each other, might have been responsible for the injury." *Esco Oil & Gas v. Sooner Pipe & Supply Corp.*, 962 S.W.2d 193, 195 (Tex. 1998) (citations omitted). "[G]enerally it has been held that *res ipsa* is not applicable against multiple defendants where it is not shown that their liability was joint or that they were in joint or exclusive control of the injury producing factor, or where the wrongdoer, among several possible, was not identified." *Joffre v. Canada Dry Ginger Ale, Inc.*, 158 A.2d 631, 637 (Md. 1960); *Eannottie v. Carriage Inn*, 799 N.E.2d 189, 196 (Ohio 2003) (holding even though the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* can be applied to multiple defendants, all defendants collectively must have exclusive control of the instrumentality that caused the injury for *res ipsa loquitur* to apply.)

Here, Ms. Nixon alleges that four operators of independent vehicles may have or did cause her injuries. Therefore, she may not proceed under the theory of *res ipsa*

¹⁰ D.C. courts may rely on Maryland common law on the point because the District of Columbia derives its common law from the state of Maryland. *See Hill v. Maryland Casualty Co.*, 620 A.2d 1336, 1337 n.3 (D.C. 1989); *Walker v. Independence Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n*, 555 A.2d 1019, 1022 (D.C. 1989).

loquitor as she cannot establish the exclusive control element of that doctrine. She in fact alleges multiple theories of liability against the various defendants/appellees. Thus, Ms. Nixon cannot show that the decision to grant summary judgment if she were to proceed under the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* was legally erroneous.¹¹

C. Appellant Has Not Shown that the Trial Court Erred in Denying the Motion to Reconsider and Alter or Amend a Judgment.¹²

The trial court's decision to deny Ms. Nixon's Motion to Reconsider and Alter or Amend a Judgment was not legally erroneous. The trial court had broad discretion when considering whether to grant or deny this Motion. *Wolff v. Wash. Hosp. Ctr.*, 938 A.2d 691, 694 (D.C. 2007) (holding motions under Rule 59 (e) are committed to the trial court's broad discretion). In her Motion to Reconsider, Ms. Nixon essentially repeated her previous unpersuasive arguments and present no facts or law to show that the trial court's committed legal error in granting summary judgment. Further, Appellant points to no legal error by the trial court in denying her Motion to Reconsider nor does she seem to dispute the specific findings in the July 22, 2022. She merely argues that summary judgment should not have been granted.

_

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